

The Charities (National Trust) Order 2005

NOTE TO READERS

(This note is not part of the Order)

The Charities (National Trust) Order 2005 is reproduced under the terms of Crown Copyright Policy Guidance issued by OPSI.

The text of the Charities (National Trust) Order 2005 ('the Order') is reproduced here so as to show:

1. the amendments made to the Order by the National Trust's Board of Trustees in accordance with paragraphs 42 and 45 of this Order.
2. the current list of appointing bodies following a review of the appointing bodies in 2018 in accordance with paragraph 18 of the Order.
3. the amendments made to the Order by a resolution of the National Trust's members, Council and Board of Trustees in accordance with paragraphs 16(8) and 18(11) of this Order.

List of amendments incorporated:

Date	Amendment
2 July 2008	Added new clause 24(4)
21 January 2009	Deleted clause 24(4) and replaced clauses 7(3), 21(4) and 24(3)
19 May 2010	Replaced clause 12(2)
17 November 2010	Added new clauses 32(3), 36(7) and 36(6), and amended clauses 36(2), 36(3) and 36(5)
22 March 2016	Amended the "arrangement of clauses" section, amended clauses 1(2)(a), 6(1)(a), 7(1)(b), 12(1), 12(2)(c), 14(1), 14(1)(a), 14(1)(b), 18(4)(b), 18(9)(b), 18(10), 22(3)(b), 23(1), 23(2), 26, 29, 30(1), 30(2)(b), 30(2)(c), 43(1), 43(2) and 43(3), amended Part 1 of the Schedule, deleted clauses 3(5) and 30(2)(d), re-numbered clauses 3(6) and 3(7), added new clauses 2(5) and 3(7), and added new Part 5 of the Schedule
17 June 2020	Added new clause 2(6) and added new Part 6 of the Schedule
26 May 2021	Added new clause 2(7) and added new Part 7 of the Schedule
[TBC] 2021	[TBC]

The text of the Order begins on page 2.

The original form of the Order without any amendments can be found at:

<http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2005/20050712.htm>

STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2005 No. 712

CHARITIES

The Charities (National Trust) Order 2005

Made 11th March 2005

Coming into force 26th March 2005

Whereas the Charity Commissioners for England and Wales have, in pursuance of section 17(1) of the Charities Act 1993(a), settled the Scheme set out in the Appendix to this Order with a view to its being given effect under that section:

And whereas the Scheme does not alter any statutory provision contained in or having effect under any public general Act of Parliament:

And whereas a draft of this Order has been laid before Parliament, the period of forty days mentioned in section 6(1) of the Statutory Instruments Act 1946(b) has expired and neither House of Parliament has within that period resolved that the Order not be made:

Now, therefore, the Secretary of State, in exercise of the powers conferred upon him by section 17(1) of the Charities Act 1993, hereby makes the following Order:

1. This Order may be cited as the Charities (National Trust) Order 2005 and shall come into force on the fourteenth day after the day on which it is made.
2. The Scheme set out in the Appendix to this Order shall have effect.

Fiona Mactaggart
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State

Home Office
11th March 2005

(a) 1993 c. 10.

(b) 1946 c. 36.

APPENDIX

THE CHARITY COMMISSIONERS FOR ENGLAND AND WALES

UNDER THE POWERS GIVEN IN THE CHARITIES ACT 1993

ORDER THAT FROM THE APPOINTED DAY THE FOLLOWING

SCHEME

WILL ALTER OR AFFECT THE TRUSTS OF THE CHARITY

KNOWN AS

THE NATIONAL TRUST FOR PLACES OF HISTORIC INTEREST OR NATURAL BEAUTY (205846)

Arrangement of clauses

1. Definitions
2. Administration
3. Board of Trustees
4. New members of Board of Trustees
5. Record of new members of Board of Trustees
6. Termination of membership of Board of Trustees
7. Casual vacancies on Board of Trustees
8. Chairman and Deputy Chairman of Board of Trustees
9. Meetings of Board of Trustees
10. Decisions of Board of Trustees
11. Recording of meetings of Board of Trustees
12. Establishment of committees
13. Employees
14. The Council of the National Trust
15. Functions of Council
16. Elected members of Council
17. Appointed members of Council
18. Review of appointing bodies
19. Terms of office of members of Council
20. Resignation from Council
21. Casual vacancies on Council
22. Appointment of Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Senior Member of Council
23. Removal of Chairman, Deputy Chairman or Senior Member of Council
24. Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Senior Member of Council: casual vacancies
25. Eligibility to serve as a member of Council
26. Requirement to be a member of the National Trust
27. Nominations Committee
28. Committees of inquiry
29. Vacancies and irregularities
30. Expenses and remuneration
31. General Meetings of the Charity
32. Notice of General Meetings

33. Annual General Meetings
34. Report and Accounts
35. Members' resolutions
36. Extraordinary General Meetings
37. Quorum for and place of general meetings
38. Chairman of general meetings
39. Adjournment of general meetings
40. Voting
41. Chairman's decision final
42. Amendment to procedures for general meetings
43. Regulation of procedures
44. Authentication of documents
45. Power of amendment
46. Questions relating to the scheme
47. Notices

SCHEDULE

Part 1 – 2005 Transitional Provisions

Part 2 -- Provisions of National Trust Acts ceasing to have effect

Part 3 -- Bodies and persons entitled to appoint a member of the Council

Part 4 -- Bodies entitled jointly to appoint a member of the Council

Part 5 – 2015 Transitional Provisions

Part 6 – 2020 Extraordinary Provisions

Part 7 – 2021 Transitional Provisions

1. Definitions

(1) In this scheme:

"the appointed day" means the day on which this scheme is given effect by an order of the Secretary of State under section 17(2) of the Charities Act 1993;

"appointed member", in relation to the Council, means a person appointed under clause 17;

"appointing body" means any body or person mentioned in Part 3 or Part 4 of the Schedule to this scheme or any body which becomes an appointing body in accordance with clause 18;

"the Board of Trustees" means the Board of Trustees of the Charity;

"the Chairman", unless the context otherwise requires, means the chairman of the Charity;

"the Charity" means The National Trust for Places of Historic Interest or Natural Beauty (charity number 205846);

"the Commission" means the Charity Commission for England and Wales;

"the Council" means the Council of the Charity;

"the Deputy Chairman", unless the context otherwise requires, means the deputy chairman of the Charity;

"elected member", in relation to the Council, means a person elected under clause 16;

"in person" means in person physically and/or by electronic means;

"the National Trust Acts" means the National Trust Acts 1907 to 1971;

"the new constitution date" means the later of 1st September 2005 and the date 2 months after that on which this scheme is given effect by an order of the Secretary of State under section 17(2) of the Charities Act 1993;

"present" means present physically and/or by electronic means unless otherwise specified;

"the Secretary" means the Secretary of the Charity;

"in writing" or "written" means the representation or reproduction of words or other information in a visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied electronically or otherwise.

(2) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is external to the Charity if that person --

(a) is not a member of the Board of Trustees or the Council;

(b) has not been a member of any such body within the previous three years;

(c) is not, and has not been within the previous three years, an employee of the Charity, and

(d) is not the spouse, parent or child of a person falling within any of subparagraphs (a), (b) or (c) above.

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2) above -

(a) "child" includes a stepchild and an illegitimate child;

(b) a person living with another as that person's husband, wife or long term partner shall be treated as that person's spouse; and

(c) the fact that a person is a member of the Charity does not preclude that person from being external to the Charity.

(4) For the purposes of clauses 33(1) and 39(1) of this scheme, "place" means a physical and/or electronic location.

~~(4)~~(5) Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this scheme, or in the Schedule to this scheme, to clauses refer to the relevant numbered clause of this scheme.

2. Administration

(1) From the appointed day until the new constitution date the Charity shall be administered in accordance with the provisions of the National Trust Acts as modified by the transitional provisions set out in Part 1 of the Schedule to this scheme.

(2) From the new constitution date the Charity shall be administered in accordance with the provisions of the National Trust Acts as modified by this scheme.

(3) The provisions of the National Trust Acts set out in Part 2 of the Schedule to this scheme shall cease to have effect on the new constitution date.

(4) As from the new constitution date all powers and duties conferred on the Council by any provision of the National Trust Acts for the time being in force shall become powers and duties of the Board of Trustees.

(5) During a transitional period provided for in Part 5 of the Schedule to this scheme the Charity shall be administered in accordance with clauses 2(2) to (4) as modified by the provisions in that Part 5.

(6) During the extraordinary circumstances provided for in Part 6 of the Schedule to this scheme the Charity shall be administered in accordance with clauses 2(2) to (4) as modified by the provisions in Part 6 and Part 7.

3. Board of Trustees

(1) The members of the Board of Trustees shall be the trustees of the Charity.

(2) The Board of Trustees shall exercise all powers conferred on the Charity by the National Trust Acts 1907 to 1971 and this scheme except those which in accordance with any provision of this scheme -

(a) are exercisable only by the Charity in general meetings; or

(b) are exercisable only by the Council.

(3) Except as provided by clauses 10(3), 12(3) and 13(2), the members of the Board of Trustees shall exercise their powers jointly, at meetings convened in accordance with this scheme.

(4) The Board of Trustees shall have a minimum of 9 and a maximum of 15 members, unless -

(a) a resolution is passed by the Council and by the Board of Trustees to change the minimum or maximum numbers, or both numbers, and

(b) the Commission gives its approval in writing to such a change.

(5) The Chairman and Deputy Chairman shall automatically be members of the Board of Trustees.

(6) All members of the Board of Trustees other than the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman shall be appointed by the Council in accordance with published procedures decided by the Council.

(7) In addition to the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, at least two members of the Board of Trustees appointed by the Council shall also be members of the Council.

(8) Except as provided by paragraph (10) below every member of the Board of Trustees shall be appointed for three years, and retiring members shall be eligible for re-appointment.

(9) The Council shall exercise its powers with the object of ensuring that, so far as is practicable, the terms of office of approximately one third of the members of the Board of Trustees expire every year.

(10) The Council may, exceptionally, appoint a member of the Board of Trustees for a term of less than three years where this is necessary to achieve the object referred to in paragraph (9) above.

4. New members of Board of Trustees

(1) The Charity shall ensure that each new member of the Board of Trustees is given, within a reasonable period of his or her appointment, an appropriate induction into the

affairs of the Charity and the responsibilities of the Board of Trustees.

(2) The Charity shall ensure that each member of the Board of Trustees is given a copy of the National Trust Acts together with this scheme and any amendments made to them, and a copy of the Charity's latest report and statement of accounts.

5. Record of new members of Board of Trustees

The Charity shall keep a record of the name and address of every member of the Board of Trustees and the dates on which their terms of office begin and end.

6. Termination of membership of Board of Trustees

(1) A person shall cease to be a member of the Board of Trustees if he or she:

(a) is removed by a resolution of the Council supported by at least 21 members of the Council or at least two-thirds of the members of the Council present at the meeting and eligible to vote, whichever is the greater;

(b) is disqualified from acting as a trustee by section 178 of the Charities Act 2011;

(c) is absent without the permission of the Board of Trustees from all their meetings held within a period of 12 months and the Board of Trustees resolve that his or her office be vacated; or

(d) gives notice in writing of his or her intention to resign to the Chairman.

(2) A notice given under paragraph (1)(d) above shall only take effect if following the resignation of the person giving the notice at least 6 members of the Board of Trustees will remain in office.

7. Casual vacancies on Board of Trustees

(1) The Council shall fill casual vacancies on the Board of Trustees where it is necessary to do so in order -

(a) to maintain the number of members in accordance with clause 3(4) or with any resolution for the time being in force under clause 3(4);

(b) to ensure that the requirements of clause 3(7) are complied with; or

(c) to ensure that a notice of resignation which has not taken effect in the circumstances referred to in clause 6(2) shall take effect.

(2) In any case other than one to which paragraph (1) above applies the Council may if it thinks fit fill casual vacancies on the Board of Trustees.

(3) At the time it makes an appointment under paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) the Council shall decide whether the appointment is to be for a full 3 year term or for only the remainder of the term of the former trustee who is being replaced, and the person appointed shall then hold office accordingly.

8. Chairman and Deputy Chairman of Board of Trustees

The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Charity shall act as Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Board of Trustees.

9. Meetings of Board of Trustees

(1) The Board of Trustees shall make provision for its meetings in accordance with clause 43.

(2) The quorum for meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be half of the members for the time being of the Board of Trustees, rounded up when there is an odd number of members of the Board of Trustees, or six members of the Board of Trustees, whichever is the greater.

10. Decisions of Board of Trustees

(1) Subject to paragraph (3) below, and unless otherwise expressly provided in this scheme, every matter shall, in case of difference, be decided by a majority of the members of the Board of Trustees present and voting at a duly convened meeting of the Board of Trustees.

(2) The chairman of the meeting may cast a second or casting vote only if there is a tied vote.

(3) Subject to paragraph (4) below a decision supported by all members of the Board of Trustees and taken otherwise than at a meeting shall be as valid as if it had been made at a meeting of the Board of Trustees.

(4) A decision taken in accordance with paragraph (3) above shall only be valid if it is recorded in writing in a single document signed by all members of the Board of Trustees, or else in two or more similar documents which together bear the signatures of all members of the Board of Trustees.

(5) For the purpose of paragraph (4) above a document is "signed" when it is validated by the required individual(s) in such manner as shall be approved by the Board of Trustees.

11. Recording of meetings of Board of Trustees

The Board of Trustees shall keep a proper record of its meetings.

12. Establishment of committees

(1) The Board of Trustees may from time to time establish and dissolve committees.

(2) A committee established under this clause

(a) may consist of one or more persons,

(b) may include persons who are not members of the Board of Trustees, and

(c) must include at least one member of the Board of Trustees.

(3) The Board of Trustees may delegate any of its functions to any committee established under this clause.

(4) A committee established under this clause shall report to the Board of Trustees in accordance with any instructions given by the Board of Trustees under clause 43.

(5) A committee established under this clause shall keep a proper record of its proceedings.

13. Employees

(1) The Board of Trustees may appoint employees of the Charity and fix their remuneration and conditions of employment.

(2) The Board of Trustees may delegate any of its functions to any employee of the Charity.

(3) Employees shall report to the Board of Trustees in accordance with any instructions given by the Board of Trustees.

14. The Council of the National Trust

- (1) The Council shall have 36 members consisting of:
- (a) 18 persons elected by members of the Charity in accordance with clause 16;
and
 - (b) 18 persons appointed in accordance with clause 17.
- (2) The Council shall meet at least once a year.

15. Functions of Council

- (1) The Council shall appoint the members of the Board of Trustees and hold them to account.
- (2) The Council's responsibilities shall include:
- (a) monitoring the fulfilment by the Charity of its statutory purposes;
 - (b) appointing the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Charity;
 - (c) appointing and, if necessary, removing members of the Board of Trustees in accordance with this scheme;
 - (d) monitoring the performance of, and calling to account, the Board of Trustees in its control and management of the administration of the Charity;
 - (e) arranging the procedures for election of members of the Council;
 - (f) reviewing every six years the list of appointing bodies;
 - (g) making available annually to the members of the Charity a report on the activities of the Council;
 - (h) commenting on proposals from the Board of Trustees for the alteration of the National Trust Acts or byelaws or of this or any other scheme of the Commission relating to the Charity.

16. Elected members of Council

- (1) The Council shall make arrangements for the holding each year of elections of persons who are to be elected members in accordance with this scheme.
- (2) The Council shall each year after consulting with a Nominations Committee appointed in accordance with clause 27 draw up criteria to be applied in assessing candidates for election to the Council.
- (3) The Council shall publish the criteria referred to in paragraph (2) above in such manner as the Council may from time to time consider appropriate, and shall on request supply a copy of those criteria to any prospective candidate or any member of the Charity.
- (4) The Nominations Committee shall publish recommendations to members as to which candidates, in the opinion of the Nominations Committee, best satisfy the criteria for the time being drawn up under paragraph (2) above.
- (5) The arrangements made by the Council under paragraph (1) above shall in particular include arrangements for:

- (a) the giving of notice of elections and for specifying the closing date for voting;
- (b) the nomination of candidates;
- (c) the provision of information by candidates; and
- (d) the conduct of voting.

(6) The arrangements made under paragraph (1) above shall ~~permitted~~ every member of the Charity who is eligible to vote to vote ~~by postal voting, electronically~~ and ~~may permit~~ shall enable such members, as an alternative to ~~postal~~ electronic voting, to vote electronically by postal voting upon written application to the Secretary or by such other means and/or to such other person as the Charity may notify to the members.

(7) For the purposes of paragraph (6) above a member is eligible to vote if he or she has been a member throughout the 70 days immediately preceding the published closing date for voting.

(8) The procedures laid down by paragraphs (1) to (7) above may be amended by a resolution passed by the Council, by the Board of Trustees, and by the members of the Charity in general meeting.

17. Appointed members of Council

(1) The bodies and persons named in part 3 of the Schedule as changed by any review carried out in accordance with clause 18 of this scheme may each appoint a member of the Council.

(2) The bodies named in part 4 of the Schedule as changed by any review carried out in accordance with clause 18 of this scheme may jointly appoint a member of the Council and in default of agreement between those bodies the majority of them may make the appointment.

(3) For the purposes of clause 18 the bodies listed in part 4 of the Schedule as changed by any review carried out in accordance with clause 18 of this scheme shall be treated as a single body.

18. Review of appointing bodies

(1) In this clause:

"review" means a review carried out in accordance with this clause; and

"review year" means 2006 and thereafter every sixth year after that.

(2) The Council shall carry out a review of the appointing bodies before the 31st December in every review year.

(3) In the course of a review the Council shall carry out such consultation as it thinks appropriate of members of the Charity and any other person or body as to what changes might be made to the list of appointing bodies.

(4) A Nominations Committee appointed in accordance with clause 27 shall review the results of the consultation and shall then make recommendations to the Council as to:

(a) which bodies ("the candidate bodies") should be included in the ballot ~~paper to be issued~~ open to members of the Charity; and

(b) which 18 of the candidate bodies would, in the opinion of the Nominations

Committee, be most suited to being included in the revised list of appointing bodies.

(5) The Council shall on the occasion of each review make arrangements for a ballot of members of the Charity to be held on possible changes to the list of appointing bodies.

(6) The arrangements made under this clause shall ~~permitted~~enable every member of the Charity who is eligible to vote to vote ~~by postal voting, and may permit~~in a ballot electronically and shall enable such members, as an alternative to ~~postal~~electronic voting, to vote ~~electronically~~by postal voting upon written application to the Secretary or by such other means and/or to such other person as the Charity may notify to the members.

(7) For the purposes of paragraph (6) above a member is eligible to vote if he or she has been a member throughout the 70 days immediately preceding the published closing date for the ballot.

(8) The arrangements made under this clause shall specify the date ("the review date") from which any change to the list of appointing bodies is to have effect. The review date must be a date on or after the results of the review are published, but not later than the end of the review year.

(9) The Council shall decide, having regard to the recommendations of the Nominations Committee:

(a) which candidate bodies shall be included on the ballot ~~paper drawn~~upprepared for ~~the purposes of the ballot~~this purpose; and

(b) what recommendations shall be made to members as to which 18 of those bodies are most suitable to be appointing bodies.

(10) The 18 candidate bodies which secure the highest number of votes in the ballot shall be appointing bodies with effect from the review date.

(11) The procedures laid down by paragraphs (1) to (10) above may be amended by a resolution passed by the Council, by the Board of Trustees, and by the members of the Charity in general meeting.

19. Terms of office of members of Council

(1) All members of the Council shall hold office for three years from the date of their appointment or election, as the case may be.

(2) A person who has held office as an appointed member or as an elected member shall be eligible for appointment or reappointment, or for election or re-election, as the case may be, to the Council.

20. Resignation from Council

A member of the Council may resign at any time by giving notice in writing to the Chairman.

21. Casual vacancies on Council

(1) If a casual vacancy arises amongst the elected members of the Council the Council may appoint another person to fill the vacancy.

(2) A member of the Council appointed under paragraph (1) above shall hold office until the next election to the Council, at which point he or she may stand for election.

(3) If a casual vacancy arises amongst the appointed members of the Council the relevant appointing body may appoint a replacement.

(4) At the time it makes an appointment under paragraph (3) the relevant appointing body shall decide whether the appointment is to be for a full 3 year term or for only the remainder of the term of the former Council member who is being replaced, and the person appointed shall then hold office accordingly.

22. Appointment of Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Senior Member of Council

(1) Subject to paragraph (2) below, the members of the Council shall appoint from their number:

(a) a chairman (to be known as "the Chairman of the National Trust");

(b) a deputy chairman (to be known as "the Deputy Chairman of the National Trust"); and

(c) a person ("the Senior Member of the Council"), who shall not be a member of the Board of Trustees, to exercise the functions conferred on him or her by this scheme.

(2) The Council may appoint as Chairman a person who is not a member of the Council at the time at which the appointment of that person is made.

(3) Where a person to whom paragraph (2) above applies is appointed as Chairman:

(a) that person shall thereupon become a member of the Council; and

(b) the total number of members of the Council accordingly shall, subject to any casual vacancies, be increased by one for as long as that person remains as Chairman and has not been elected to the Council by the members of the Charity, or appointed to the Council by an appointing body.

(4) The Chairman and Deputy Chairman and the Senior Member of the Council shall hold office for 3 years and shall then retire from office, but shall be eligible for re-appointment.

(5) The Deputy Chairman may exercise all the functions of the Chairman at any meeting when the Chairman is not present.

(6) A person who before being appointed as Chairman or Deputy Chairman is not a member of the Board of Trustees shall become a member of the Board of Trustees upon becoming Chairman or Deputy Chairman and shall remain a member of the Board of Trustees for as long as he or she remains Chairman or Deputy Chairman.

(7) The Senior Member of the Council shall chair any part of any meeting of the Council at which the Council considers:

(a) any proposal to remove a member of the Board of Trustees;

(b) any proposal to censure the Board of Trustees; and

(c) any other business the nature of which, in the opinion of a majority of members of the Council present at the meeting, is such as to make it inappropriate

for the Chairman or the Deputy Chairman to chair the meeting while that business is being considered.

23. Removal of Chairman, Deputy Chairman or Senior Member of Council

(1) The Council may by resolution remove the Chairman or the Deputy Chairman provided that the resolution is supported by at least 21 members of the Council or at least two-thirds of the members of the Council present at the meeting and eligible to vote, whichever is the greater.

(2) The Council may by resolution remove the Senior Member provided that the resolution is supported by at least 14 members of the Council or more than half of the members of the Council present at the meeting and eligible to vote, whichever is the greater.

(3) A resolution under paragraphs (1) or (2) above shall not have the effect of removing a Deputy Chairman or Senior Member from the Council.

(4) A resolution under paragraph (1) above shall only have the effect of removing a Chairman from the Council if he or she was appointed under clause 22(2) and is not currently an elected or appointed member of the Council.

24. Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Senior Member of Council: casual vacancies

(1) On a casual vacancy occurring in the office of Chairman or Deputy Chairman or Senior Member of the Council the Council shall appoint a person to fill the vacancy.

(2) Clauses 22(2) and (3) shall apply to any person appointed to fill any casual vacancy in the office of Chairman.

(3) At the time it makes an appointment under paragraph (1) the Council shall decide whether the appointment is to be for a full 3 year term or for only the remainder of the term of the former Chairman, Deputy Chairman or Senior Member of the Council whose office is to be filled, and the person appointed shall then hold office accordingly.

25. Eligibility to serve as a member of Council

(1) A person who would be disqualified from acting as a trustee of a charity may not serve as a member of the Council unless the Council resolves that that person is a fit person to act as a member of the Council.

(2) If, whilst a person is serving as a member of the Council, an event occurs which would disqualify that person from acting as a trustee of a charity:

(a) that person shall, immediately upon the event happening, cease to be a member of the Council, but

(b) that person may subsequently stand for re-election or re-appointment if the Council resolves that, notwithstanding the event, that person is a fit person to act as a member of the Council.

26. Requirement to be a member of the National Trust

No person shall be eligible for appointment or election (as the case may be) as Chairman or Deputy Chairman, or as a member of the Board of Trustees or the Council, unless that person is a member of the Charity.

27. Nominations Committee

(1) The Council shall:

(a) whenever the involvement of a Nominations Committee is provided for under clause 16 or clause 18, and

(b) whenever the Council is to make an appointment to the Board of Trustees, or is to appoint the Chairman or Deputy Chairman,

appoint a committee to be known as a Nominations Committee to assist the Council (and, in the case of elections to the Council, the members of the Charity).

(2) The size and criteria for membership of each Nominations Committee shall be determined by resolution of the Council provided that at least one member of each Nominations Committee shall be a person who is external to the Charity.

28. Committees of inquiry

(1) The Council by resolution may establish a committee of inquiry to investigate any aspect of the affairs of the Charity.

(2) The composition, procedures and terms of reference of a committee of inquiry established under this clause shall be specified in the resolution by which the committee is established.

(3) A committee of inquiry shall have all necessary powers of calling for documents, assistance and evidence from the Board of Trustees and from the staff of the Charity.

(4) The committee of inquiry shall report back to the Council and the Council shall then decide what action, if any, to take.

(5) A resolution under this clause to establish a committee of inquiry shall not be valid unless supported by at least two-thirds of the members of the Council present at the meeting at which the resolution is considered.

29. Vacancies and irregularities

The acts and proceedings of the Board of Trustees, the Council, or of any committee or sub-committee shall not be invalidated by:

(a) any vacancy in their number;

(b) any defect or irregularity in the appointment, or in the qualification for appointment, of any person as a member, chairman, or deputy chairman of any of those bodies, or as Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the Charity, or as Senior Member of the Council; or

(c) (in the case of elected members) any defect or irregularity in the election, or in the qualification for election, of the member.

30. Expenses and remuneration

(1) The Charity may defray any expenses wholly, necessarily and exclusively incurred by members of the Board of Trustees, the Council or any committee or sub-committee for the purpose of carrying out their duties as such members.

(2) Subject to the prior written approval of the Commission, the Charity may pay such annual amounts as the Council may from time to time determine and as shall be

approved by the members in general meeting to:

- (a) the Chairman of the Charity;
- (b) the Deputy Chairman of the Charity; and
- (c) any other member or members of the Board of Trustees.

(3) Section 21(3) of the National Trust Act 1971 (which specifies the information to be shown in the accounts of the National Trust) shall have effect as though for the reference in paragraph (a) to particulars of any remuneration of chairmen paid in pursuance of section 18 of the Act, and for reference in paragraph (b) to the aggregate remuneration paid to members of the council or former members of the council, there were substituted a reference to such annual amounts as are paid in accordance with clause 30(2) of this scheme.

31. General Meetings of the Charity

There shall be two types of general meeting of the Charity:

- (a) annual general meetings; and
- (b) extraordinary general meetings.

32. Notice of General Meetings

(1) Notice of every general meeting, and the agenda, shall be sent in writing, published, or otherwise made available to the members not less than twenty-one days before the meeting.

(2) The notice shall be in such form, and shall be sent in writing, published, or otherwise made available in such manner as the Board of Trustees from time to time decides so as to enable all members to access details of the general meeting.

~~(3) Notwithstanding anything in paragraphs (1) or (2) the notice of an extraordinary general meeting, and the agenda, may, if the Board of Trustees so decides, instead of being sent to members be published not less than twenty one days before the meeting on the National Trust's website, in a national newspaper and in such other manner (if any) as the Board of Trustees from time to time decides.~~

33. Annual General Meetings

(1) The annual general meeting shall be held on such date between 1st September and 31st December each year, at such time and in such place(s) and in such format as the Board of Trustees decides.

(2) The only business which may be dealt with at an annual general meeting is:

- (a) business which in accordance with the National Trust Acts and this scheme is required or authorised to be dealt with at annual general meetings;
- (b) a resolution proposed by members in accordance with clause 35 ("a members' resolution"), and notice of which is given in the notice of the meeting; and
- (c) a resolution proposed by the Board of Trustees, and notice of which is given in the notice of the meeting.

34. Report and Accounts

(1) At each annual general meeting the Board of Trustees shall present to the meeting a report of the activities of the Charity in the preceding financial year and the accounts of the Charity for that year.

(2) Copies of the report and accounts shall be available: electronically and on written application to the Secretary.

~~(a) at each annual general meeting; and~~

~~(b) on written application to the Secretary.~~

35. Members' resolutions

(1) Subject to paragraph (3) below a notice of a members' resolution to be considered at an annual general meeting shall not be valid unless it:

(a) sets out the resolution;

(b) is sent to the Secretary so as to be received by him or her not later than ~~the close of business~~ 5.00pm on 1st June (or, if 1st June is not a working day, by 5.00pm on the first working day after 1st June) in the year of the annual general meeting; and

(c) is signed by not less than fifty members who have been members of the Charity since no later than 1st January in the year before the year in which the resolution is submitted of whom five have signed as "proposers" and the others have signed as "supporters".

(2) For the purposes of:

(a) paragraph (1)(b) above "working day" means any day other than Saturday, Sunday, or any public holiday in England; and

(b) paragraph (1)(c) above "signed" means any members' resolution which is validated by the appropriate number of proposers and supporters in such manner as shall be approved by the Board of Trustees and made available to members on request.

(3) If on or before 30th June in the year of the annual general meeting the Board of Trustees and all the proposers agree a modification to the resolution the resolution as so modified shall be treated as a resolution of which valid notice has been given.

(4) No members' resolution shall be considered by an annual general meeting unless:

(a) valid notice has been given; and

(b) at the meeting the resolution is formally proposed by one of the proposers and seconded by another proposer.

(5) Except as mentioned in paragraph (4) above a members' resolution shall not be withdrawn or treated as abandoned unless all the proposers agree in writing.

(6) The Board of Trustees may refuse to accept a members' resolution if:

(a) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees the resolution contains material

- (i) which is, or might be, defamatory; or
 - (ii) which it would, or might, be otherwise unlawful to publish;
- (b) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees the resolution or the matter to which it relates has been the subject of a resolution proposed at any general meeting held during the three years preceding the submission of the resolution;
- (c) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees the subject matter of the resolution is substantially the same as the subject matter of another resolution proposed for the same general meeting and previously received by the Secretary; or
- (d) in the opinion of at least three-quarters of the members of the Board of Trustees the subject matter of the resolution is not relevant to any material extent to the statutory purposes of the Charity.

(7) The members proposing a members' resolution may submit with the notice of the resolution a supporting statement.

(8) Subject to paragraph (9) below the Board of Trustees shall ~~send~~provide a copy of any statement submitted under paragraph (7) above to every member of the Charity together with the notice of the annual general meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed.

(9) The Board of Trustees shall not be required to ~~send~~provide any statement submitted under paragraph (7) above if:

- (a) it is longer than 500 words; or
- (b) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees it contains material
 - (i) which is, or might be, defamatory; or
 - (ii) which it would, or might, be otherwise unlawful to publish.

(10) The Board of Trustees may itself ~~send~~provide a statement commenting on the resolution to every member of the Charity together with the notice of the meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed and may include in such a statement a recommendation to the members as to the manner in which they should cast their votes.

36. Extraordinary General Meetings

(1) The Board of Trustees may convene an extraordinary general meeting whenever it thinks fit.

(2) The Board of Trustees shall within 70 days of receiving a valid requisition to do so ~~send~~send out in writing or publish a notice to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

(3) A requisition is valid if:

- (a) it is signed by not less than one per cent of the members of the Charity;
- (b) it is delivered to the Secretary; and
- (c) it specifies the object of the proposed extraordinary general meeting.

(4) For the purposes of paragraph (3) (a) above:

(a) signatories must have been members of the Charity since no later than 1st January in the year before the year in which the requisition is delivered to the Secretary; ~~and~~

(b) the number of members of the Charity shall be deemed to be the number stated in the last annual report published before the date upon which the requisition is delivered to the Secretary; ~~and~~

(c) "signed" means a requisition which is validated by the appropriate number of members of the Charity in such manner as shall be approved by the Board of Trustees and made available to members on request.

(5) If the Board of Trustees does not, within 70 days of receiving a valid requisition, send ~~out~~ in writing or publish a notice to convene an extraordinary general meeting, the requisitionists may convene an extraordinary general meeting.

(6) The only business which may be dealt with at an extraordinary general meeting is business of which notice has been given in the notice convening the meeting.

(7) Any meeting convened by the Board of Trustees in response to a valid requisition shall take place on such date as the Board of Trustees decides, but that date shall not be later than:

(a) (if the requisition is received 180 days or more before the planned date of the next annual general meeting): the date of the next annual general meeting; or

(b) (if the requisition is received less than 180 days before the planned date of the next annual general meeting): the date one year after the requisition is received.

(8) Notwithstanding anything in paragraphs (1) to (7) a requisition shall be deemed not to be a valid requisition if:

(a) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees the object of the proposed extraordinary general meeting as specified in the requisition, or the matter to which the object relates

(i) has been the subject of a resolution proposed at any general meeting held during the three years preceding the receipt by the Secretary of the requisition, or

(ii) has been the subject of an extraordinary general meeting during that period, or

(b) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees the subject matter of the proposed extraordinary general meeting is substantially the same as

(i) the subject matter of a members' resolution of which valid notice has previously been received by the Secretary and which is due to be considered at the next annual general meeting, or

(ii) the subject matter of any proposed extraordinary general meeting for which a valid requisition has previously been received by the Secretary, or

(c) in the opinion of at least three-quarters of the members of the Board of Trustees the object of the proposed extraordinary general meeting is not relevant to any material extent to the statutory purposes of the Charity.

37. Quorum for and place of general meetings

(1) One hundred members of the Charity present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum

for a general meeting.

(2) If within one hour after the time appointed for an annual general meeting a quorum is not present the only business which may be dealt with is the consideration of the report of the Board of Trustees and the accounts, and the election of the auditors.

(3) If within one hour after the time appointed for an extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting shall be abandoned.

(4) The Board of Trustees may, in its discretion, prescribe measures that will apply to those members of the Charity attending a general meeting in person or by proxy and after so doing will inform the members of the Charity of such measures. Such measures may include a requirement to pre-register attendance, and may, where it is expedient and in the best interests of the Charity to do so, taking into account the law and government guidance, prescribe a limit on the number of members of the Charity (or their proxies) who may be physically present (but not on those who may be present by electronic means) at the general meeting. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this scheme and any measures prescribed by the Board of Trustees, the provisions of this scheme will take precedence.

(5) A meeting which takes place in whole or in part by electronic means will be treated as taking place where the chairman of the meeting is.

38. Chairman of general meetings

(1) If the Chairman is present at a general meeting he or she shall chair the meeting. If he or she is not present, the Deputy Chairman shall do so. If neither the Chairman nor the Deputy Chairman is present at the meeting, the members of the Charity present at the meeting shall elect one of their number to act as chairman of the meeting.

(2) If the votes at any general meeting are equally divided the chairman of the meeting shall have, as well as his or her own vote, a second or casting vote.

39. Adjournment of general meetings

(1) The chairman of any general meeting may ~~with the consent of the meeting~~ adjourn the meeting to another time and to the same or another place.

(2) The only business which may be transacted at a meeting adjourned in accordance with paragraph (1) above shall be:

(a) the business which was left undisposed of at the meeting at which the adjournment took place; and

(b) business of which a notice and agenda have been given to members as provided for in clause 32.

40. Voting

(1) At every general meeting all matters which fall to be decided at the meeting shall be decided on a poll by a majority of the votes of the members of the Charity who are present in person, or by proxy and ~~voting by show of hands unless a poll is demanded in accordance with paragraph (2) below who vote.~~

~~(2) At a general meeting a poll may be demanded in respect of any proposed resolution by:~~

~~(a) the chairman of the meeting, if he or she considers that the show of hands does~~

~~not accurately reflect the views of those members who are not present in person but have appointed proxies; or~~

~~(b) not less than ten members present in person at the meeting.~~

~~(3) If a poll is demanded in accordance with paragraph (2) above the matter for decision shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the members present in person or by proxy and voting.~~

~~(4)~~(2) At a general meeting any member who has been a member throughout the 70 days immediately preceding the meeting may vote. Each such member has one vote.

~~(5)~~(3) Members may vote:

(a) in person at the meeting; or

(b) by proxy using such proxy form as the Board of Trustees shall have provided for use at that meeting.

~~(6)~~(4) The Board of Trustees shall ~~provide for each general meeting~~enable every member of the Charity who is eligible to vote to vote by appointing a written proxy using an electronic proxy form for use at that meeting. The Board of Trustees may in addition provide and shall enable such members with the, as an alternative of to appointing a proxy using an electronic proxy form, to appoint a proxy using a paper proxy form upon written application to the Secretary or by such other means and/or to such other person as the Charity may notify to the members.

~~(7)~~(5) References in this scheme to a "proxy form" include either or both of the alternatives provided in accordance with paragraph ~~(6)~~(4) above.

~~(8)~~(6) ~~No one~~A member may not vote ~~as a~~by proxy unless ~~the~~a completed proxy form is received by the Secretary not less than seven days before the day appointed for holding the meeting at which the proxy ~~is to be used~~will vote on the member's behalf.

~~(9)~~(7) The fact that one or more members of the Charity has not or have not received a proxy form does not invalidate the vote on any resolution.

41. Chairman's decision final

Except where this scheme provides otherwise any direction or decision by the chairman of a general meeting as to the conduct of the meeting, or on any question of procedure or point of order, shall be final.

42. Amendment to procedures for general meetings

The Board of Trustees by resolution and the members of the Charity by resolution in general meeting may from time to time agree to replace the provisions set out in this scheme relating to general meetings with new or amended provisions.

43. Regulation of procedures

(1) The Board of Trustees may from time to time make regulations for the management and administration of the Charity, the holding of meetings and the conduct of the business of the Charity and of the Board of Trustees, the Council and any committee or sub-committee.

(2) Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (1) above regulations made under that paragraph may specify the quorum for the Council or for any committee or sub-committee.

(3) Subject to the National Trust Acts and this scheme, and to any regulations made under paragraph (1) above, the Board of Trustees, the Council and any committee or sub-committee shall each have power to regulate its own procedures.

(4) In this clause "regulations" includes rules, standing orders and instructions.

44. Authentication of documents

(1) Regulations made under clause 43 may lay down procedures for the sealing, signature or execution on behalf of the Charity of documents of any kind.

(2) Such regulations may lay down different procedures for different kinds of documents, and may specify the person or persons, being members of the Board of Trustees or staff of the Charity, who shall seal, sign or execute documents of the kinds specified in the regulations.

(3) It shall not be necessary in legal proceedings to prove that the person or persons who sealed, signed or executed any such document was or were duly authorised to do so, and such document shall be presumed to be duly signed, sealed or executed unless the contrary is proved.

45. Power of amendment

(1) The Board of Trustees (subject to the provisions of this clause) may from time to time amend this scheme if it is satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the Charity to do so.

(2) The Board of Trustees shall consult the Council before making any such amendment.

(3) The Board of Trustees shall not make any amendment which would have the effect directly or indirectly of:

- (a) altering or extending the purposes of the Charity;
- (b) authorising the Board of Trustees to do anything which is expressly prohibited by the trusts of the Charity;
- (c) causing the Charity to cease to be a charity at law; or
- (d) altering or extending the power of amendment that is conferred by this clause.

(4) The Board of Trustees shall obtain the prior written approval of the Commission before making any amendment which would have the effect directly or indirectly of:

- (a) enabling them to spend permanent endowment or capitalise income of the Charity;
- (b) conferring a benefit of any kind on all or any of the current members of the Board of Trustees or their successors;
- (c) restricting (without the consent of that person) the existing right of any person to appoint or remove a member of the Board of Trustees, or to intervene in the administration of the Charity;
- (d) changing provisions in this scheme as to the size of the Council or the minimum or maximum size of the Board of Trustees, or changing the method by

which members of those bodies are elected or appointed; or

(e) varying the name of the Charity.

(5) An amendment may be made only by a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board of Trustees of which not less than 21 days' notice has been given. The notice must set out the terms of the proposed amendment.

(6) The Board of Trustees shall:

(a) prepare a written memorandum of each amendment that it makes, which must be signed at the meeting at which the amendment is made by the person chairing the meeting;

(b) send to the Commission a copy of the memorandum certified by a person authorised by the Board of Trustees to do so within three months of the date of the meeting; and

(c) retain the memorandum as part of the governing documents.

46. Questions relating to the scheme

The Commission may decide any question put to them concerning:

(1) the interpretation of this scheme, or

(2) the propriety or validity of anything done or intended to be done under it.

47. Notices

(1) This clause applies to any notice or document which the Charity is required by the National Trust Acts or this scheme to send to any person.

(2) Where the Charity sends a notice or document in writing to one member of a joint, group, or family membership of the Charity, the Charity shall not be required to send separate notices or documents to the other members of that joint, group or family membership.

(3) The Charity shall not be required to send notices or documents to members of the Charity who enjoy a concessionary membership rate by reason of their living at the same address as another member of the Charity.

(4) The fact that a notice or document is not sent to or received by any person entitled to receive it shall not invalidate any meeting held or action taken in accordance with this scheme.

SCHEDULE
PART 1
2005 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

1. Definitions

(1) In this Part of the Schedule:

"the existing bodies" means the existing Council, the existing central committees, the existing country and regional committees and the existing panels;

"the existing central committees" means the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee and the Properties Committee as those committees exist immediately before the appointed day;

"the existing Council" means the Council as it exists immediately before the appointed day;

"the existing country and regional committees" means the Committee for Wales, the Committee for Northern Ireland and the nine regional committees as they exist immediately before the appointed day;

"the existing panels" means the Archaeology Panel, the Architectural Panel, the Arts Panel, the Estates Panel, the Gardens Panel, the Investment Panel and the Nature Conservation Panel as they exist immediately before the appointed day;

"the new advisory panels" means advisory panels established pursuant to paragraph 9 of this Part of the Schedule;

"the new constitution" means the new constitution of the Charity contained in this scheme;

"the new Council" means the Council established pursuant to this scheme;

"the new country and regional committees" means country and regional committees established pursuant to paragraph 9 of this Part of the Schedule;

"the transitional period" means the period commencing on the appointed day and ending on the new constitution date.

(2) This part of the Schedule shall have effect notwithstanding anything in the National Trust Acts or in any other provision of this scheme.

2. Exercise of functions during transitional period

(1) During the transitional period: -

(a) the existing bodies shall continue to exercise their functions under the National Trust Acts as modified by this Part of the Schedule; and

(b) the existing Council may do all such things as may be necessary or expedient to prepare for the introduction of the new constitution.

(2) Without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraph (1)(b) above the existing Council may during the transitional period make preparations and arrangements for, and in relation to, elections and general meetings to be held after the new constitution date; and in making such preparations and arrangements the existing Council may exercise the powers which are to be conferred by this scheme on the Board of Trustees with effect from the new constitution date.

(3) The new constitution shall apply to all preparations and arrangements made under sub-paragraph (2) above, and to all notices given and steps taken in relation to any such elections and general meetings.

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) above the existing Council may appoint a transitional nominations committee; and the provisions of clauses 16 and 27 as to Nominations Committees shall apply with all necessary modifications to any such transitional nominations committee.

(5) Sub-paragraphs (1) to (4) above shall have effect subject to any regulations made under clause 43 and paragraph 4 of this Part of the Schedule.

3. Persons continued in office

(1) Notwithstanding anything in the National Trust Acts, the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Charity who hold office on the appointed day, and every member of the existing bodies who holds office on the appointed day shall remain in office until the new constitution date, unless any such person ceases to hold office as provided by the National Trust Acts.

(2) During the transitional period no election to the existing Council shall be held and no appointments to the existing bodies shall be made other than appointments to fill casual vacancies.

4. Regulations

During the transitional period clause 43 shall apply and have effect as though for references to the Board of Trustees there were substituted references to the existing Council; and the existing Council may exercise the power of clause 43 so as to make:

- (a) regulations to come into force on the new constitution date; and
- (b) temporary regulations (which may make temporary modifications of any provision of this scheme) as to things done during or (if in connection with the introduction of the new constitution) after the transitional period.

5. Initial appointments to Board of Trustees

(1) The existing Council shall make the first appointments to the Board of Trustees as soon as reasonably practicable after the appointed day, and in any event before the new constitution date.

(2) The existing Council shall ensure that a majority of the first members of the Board of Trustees are members of the existing Council.

6. Chairman, Deputy Chairman and members of existing Council to remain in office

(1) On the new constitution date -

- (a) the Chairman and Deputy Chairman shall remain in office as though they had been appointed under clause 22;
- (b) the existing Council shall cease to exist; and
- (c) the persons who immediately before the new constitution date were members of the existing Council shall become members of the new Council.

(2) The Chairman and Deputy Chairman and the persons who become members of the new Council on the new constitution date in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) above shall remain in office until the dates upon which they would have ceased to hold office in accordance with the National Trust Acts or (if later) until the date 28 days after the new

constitution date, unless they previously cease to hold office in accordance with this scheme.

7. Exercise of functions by new Council and Board of Trustees

On and with effect from the new constitution date the new Council and the Board of Trustees shall come into existence and shall exercise the functions conferred on them by this scheme.

8. Abolition of existing central committees

The existing central committees shall cease to exist on the new constitution date.

9. Country and regional committees and advisory panels

(1) On the new constitution date -

(a) the existing country and regional committees shall become new country and regional committees and shall be deemed to have been established under clause 12;

(b) the existing panels shall become new advisory panels and shall be deemed to have been established under clause 12;

(c) the persons who immediately before the new constitution date were chairmen or members of the existing country and regional committees shall become respectively chairmen or members of the new country and regional committees; and

(d) the persons who immediately before the new constitution date were chairmen or members of the existing panels shall become respectively chairmen or members of the new advisory panels.

(2) The persons who become chairmen or members of the new country and regional committees or new advisory panels on the new constitution date in accordance with subparagraph (1) above shall remain in office until the dates upon which they would have ceased to hold office had this scheme not been made, or (if later) until the date 28 days after the new constitution date, unless they previously cease to hold office in accordance with this scheme.

PART 2

(a) PROVISIONS OF NATIONAL TRUST ACTS CEASING TO HAVE EFFECT

National Trust Act 1953

With regard to England and Wales, section 4(3)

National Trust Act 1971

In section 3 (Interpretation) the definitions of "appointed member", "elected member", "the existing Council", "the existing executive committee" and "members resolution".

Section 5 (General Meetings)

Section 6 (Council of National Trust)

Section 7 (Elected members of Council)

Section 8 (Appointed members of Council)

Section 9 (Chairman and Deputy Chairman)

Section 10 (Casual vacancies)

Section 11 (Powers and duties of Council)

Section 12 (Executive Committee)

Section 13 (Regional Committees)

Section 14 (Proceedings of Council, etc.)

Section 15 (Authentication of documents)

Section 16 (Retirement under age limit)

Section 17 (Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings)

Section 18 (Remuneration of Chairman)

Section 19 (Expenses of members of council, etc.)

In Section 26 (Occupation of Trust property by members) the words "(not being a member of Council)" and the proviso beginning "provided that it shall be"

Schedule 1 - Part I - Bodies and persons authorised to appoint a member of the Council

Part II - Bodies authorised jointly to appoint a member of the Council

Schedule 2 - Regulations governing the calling and holding of meetings

Schedule 3 - Matters in respect of which Executive Committee not to exercise powers conferred on Council.

PART 3

BODIES AND PERSONS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL

Campaign to Protect Rural England

Canal & River Trust

Conservation Volunteers, The

Council for British Archaeology

Duke of Edinburgh's Award, The

English Heritage

Historic Houses

Museums Association

National Farmers' Union of England and Wales

Open Spaces Society

Ramblers' Association, The

Royal Horticultural Society

Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, The

Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings

Soil Association

Tenants' Association of the National Trust

Wildlife Trusts, The

Woodland Trust

PART 4

BODIES ENTITLED JOINTLY TO APPOINT A MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL

No such bodies.

PART 5

2015 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

1. Introduction

1.1 The Council consists of persons elected by members of the Charity and persons appointed by appointing bodies (as defined below) (and, in accordance with clause 22(3) of this scheme, the Chairman of the Charity if not a member of the Council at the time at which the appointment of that person is made).

1.2 There shall be a transitional period which shall be deemed to have commenced on the Base Date (as defined below), during which period the number of members of the Council shall reduce so that at the end of that transitional period the Council shall have 36 members, consisting of 18 persons elected by members of the Charity in accordance with clause 16 and 18 persons appointed in accordance with clause 17.

1.3 The provisions in this part 5 shall be subject always to the terms of clause 22(3) of this scheme.

1.4 Having consulted the Council, the Board of Trustees considers that it is expedient in the interests of the Charity to implement a phased reduction of the number of persons on the Council. These transitional provisions set out the process by which the number of members of the Council shall be reduced to 36.

1.5 In these transitional provisions the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“appointing bodies” means the appointing bodies listed in part 3 or part 4 of the Schedule to this scheme (as changed by any review carried out in accordance with clause 18 of this scheme);

“Base Date” means 7 November 2015;

“Phase 1” means the period commencing on the Base Date and ending on the Phase 1 implementation date (as defined below);

“Phase 2” means the period commencing on the day after the Phase 1 implementation date and ending on the Phase 2 implementation date (as defined below); and

“Phase 3” means the period commencing on the day after the Phase 2 implementation date and ending on the Phase 3 implementation date (as defined below).

2. Position at Base Date

As at the Base Date the Council had (subject to any unfilled vacancies) 52 members consisting of:

2.1 26 persons elected by members of the Charity in accordance with clause 16; and

2.2 26 persons appointed in accordance with clause 17.

3. Phase 1

3.1 During the calendar year 2016 the Council shall make arrangements for the holding of elections of elected members of the Council in accordance with clauses 16 and 27 of this scheme (the date on which the result of such elections is declared shall be the “Phase 1 implementation date”) so that, as at the Phase 1 implementation date, the Council shall have 22 persons elected by members of the Charity.

3.2 During Phase 1 and save as set out in paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.3, the appointing bodies which are entitled to appoint or re-appoint members of the Council, may do so.

3.3 Individuals who were members of the Council as at 1 June 2015 and who were appointed to the Council by the Open Spaces Society, the Royal Horticultural Society and VisitBritain (“Phase 1a departing members”) shall be deemed to have completed their second terms as members of the Council on the Phase 1 implementation date. In the case of each of these three appointing bodies:

3.3.1 the term of office of the Phase 1a departing member who has been appointed by them shall expire on the Phase 1 implementation date;

3.3.2 they shall not be entitled to exercise their right under clause 17 of this scheme to appoint a member of the Council on the expiration of the term of office of the Phase 1a departing member who has been appointed by them;

3.3.3 any appointment they make on or before the Phase 1 implementation date to fill a casual vacancy arising from the resignation, retirement or other removal of the Phase 1a departing member appointed by them shall only be for the period from the date of such appointment to the Phase 1 implementation date; and

3.3.4 any purported appointment of an individual to the Council to replace the Phase 1a departing member appointed by them made otherwise than in accordance with paragraph 3.3.3 shall be void.

3.4 Individuals who were members of the Council as at 1 June 2015 and who were appointed to the Council by the Council for British Archaeology, the Country Land and Business Association and the Institute of Conservation (“Phase 1b departing members”) shall be deemed to have completed their third terms as members of the Council on the Phase 1 implementation date. In the case of each of these three appointing bodies:

3.4.1 the term of office of the Phase 1b departing member who has been appointed by them shall expire on the Phase 1 implementation date;

3.4.2 they shall not be entitled to exercise their right under clause 17 of this scheme to appoint a member of the Council on the expiration of the term of office of the Phase 1b departing member who has been appointed by them;

3.4.3 any appointment they make on or before the Phase 1 implementation date to fill a casual vacancy arising from the resignation, retirement or other removal of the Phase 1b departing member appointed by them shall only be for the period from the date of such appointment to the Phase 1 implementation date; and

3.4.4 any purported appointment of an individual to the Council to replace the Phase 1b departing member appointed by them made otherwise than in accordance with paragraph 3.4.3 shall be void

3.5 For the avoidance of doubt, any appointment made by the appointing bodies referred to in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 between 1 June 2015 and the day before the Base Date to fill a casual vacancy arising from the resignation, retirement or other removal of the Phase 1a departing member or Phase 1b departing member (as applicable) appointed by them shall only be for the period from the date of such appointment to the Phase 1 implementation date. An individual appointed pursuant to this paragraph 3.5 shall be considered to be a “Phase 1a departing member” or a “Phase 1b departing member” (as applicable) for the purposes of paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 (as applicable).

3.6 References in paragraphs 3.3.3, 3.4.3 and 3.5 to the appointment of members of the Council by the appointing bodies referred to in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 are to an appointment made under clause 21(3) of this scheme, save that clause 21(4) of this scheme is varied so that any appointment made under paragraphs 3.3.3, 3.4.3 or 3.5 shall be for the period between the date of such appointment and the Phase 1 implementation date and no longer.

3.7 The provisions of paragraphs 3.2 to 3.6 inclusive shall mean that, as at the Phase 1 implementation date, the Council shall have (subject to any unfilled vacancies) 20 persons appointed by appointing bodies.

4. Phase 2

4.1 During the calendar year 2017 the Council shall make arrangements for the holding of elections of elected members of the Council in accordance with clauses 16 and 27 of this scheme (the date on which the result of such elections is declared shall be the “Phase 2 implementation date”) so that, as at the Phase 2 implementation date, the Council shall have 21 persons elected by members of the Charity.

4.2 During Phase 2 and save as set out in paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.3, the appointing bodies which are entitled to appoint or re-appoint members of the Council, may do so.

4.3 Individuals who were members of the Council as at 1 June 2015 and who were appointed to the Council by the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings and the Museums Association (“Phase 2 departing members”) shall be deemed to have completed their third terms as members of the Council on the Phase 2 implementation date. In the case of each of these two appointing bodies:

4.3.1 the term of office of the Phase 2 departing member who has been appointed by them shall expire on the Phase 2 implementation date;

4.3.2 they shall not be entitled to exercise their right under clause 17 of this scheme to appoint a member of the Council on the expiration of the term of office of the Phase 2 departing member who has been appointed by them;

4.3.3 any appointment they make on or before the Phase 2 implementation date to fill a casual vacancy arising from the resignation, retirement or other removal

of the Phase 2 departing member appointed by them shall only be for the period from the date of such appointment to the Phase 2 implementation date; and

4.3.4 any purported appointment of an individual to the Council to replace the Phase 2 departing member appointed by them made otherwise than in accordance with paragraph 4.3.3 shall be void.

4.4 For the avoidance of doubt, any appointment made by the appointing bodies referred to in paragraph 4.3 between 1 June 2015 and the Phase 1 implementation date to fill a casual vacancy arising from the resignation, retirement or other removal of the Phase 2 departing member appointed by them shall only be for the period from the date of such appointment to the Phase 2 implementation date. An individual appointed pursuant to this paragraph 4.4 shall be considered to be a “Phase 2 departing member” for the purposes of paragraph 4.3.

4.5 References in paragraphs 4.3.3 and 4.4 to the appointment of members of the Council by the appointing bodies referred to in paragraph 4.3 are to an appointment made under clause 21(3) of this scheme, save that clause 21(4) of this scheme is varied so that any appointment made under paragraphs 4.3.3 or 4.4 shall be for the period between the date of such appointment and the Phase 2 implementation date and no longer.

4.6 The provisions of paragraphs 4.2 to 4.5 inclusive shall mean that, as at the Phase 2 implementation date, the Council shall have (subject to any unfilled vacancies) 18 persons appointed by appointing bodies.

5. Phase 3 and review of appointing bodies 2018

5.1 During the calendar year 2018 the Council shall make arrangements for the holding of elections of elected members of the Council in accordance with clauses 16 and 27 of this scheme (the date on which the result of such elections is declared shall be the “Phase 3 implementation date”) so that, as at the Phase 3 implementation date, the Council shall have 18 persons elected by members of the Charity.

5.2 During Phase 3 and save as set out in paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.3, the appointing bodies which are entitled to appoint or re-appoint members of the Council may do so, so that as at the Phase 3 implementation date, the Council shall have (subject to any unfilled vacancies) 18 persons appointed by appointing bodies.

5.3 The Council shall carry out a review of the appointing bodies in 2018 in accordance with clause 18 of this scheme (the “2018 review”). The Council shall in particular make arrangements for a ballot of the members of the Charity as to which bodies should be included in the list of appointing bodies, which list shall, in accordance with clause 14(1)(b) of this scheme, comprise 18 appointing bodies.

5.4 The ballot paper drawn up for the purposes of the ballot referred to in paragraph 5.3 shall include the appointing bodies as candidate bodies, in addition to any other bodies which the Council decides shall be included as candidate bodies on such ballot paper.

5.5 Following completion of the 2018 review:

5.5.1 the relevant appointing bodies which are chosen by the members of the Charity after the completion of the 2018 review may appoint members of the Council in accordance with the provisions of this scheme; and

5.5.2 in accordance with the existing practice of the Charity, each of the members of the Council appointed by appointing bodies which, following the 2018 review, are no longer appointing bodies shall be entitled to serve the remainder of their term of office.

6. Casual vacancies on the Council

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in these transitional provisions shall prohibit the Council from appointing a person or persons to fill a casual vacancy on the Council in accordance with clause 21(1) of this scheme.

7. Transitional adjustments to clauses 6 and 23 of the scheme

During Phases 1, 2 and 3:

7.1 Clause 6(1)(a) of this scheme is varied so that the reference in it to “21 members of the Council” is:

7.1.1 during Phase 1: a reference to “30 members of the Council”;

7.1.2 during Phase 2: a reference to “25 members of the Council”; and

7.1.3 during Phase 3: a reference to “23 members of the Council”.

7.2 Clause 23(1) of this scheme is varied so that the reference in it to “21 members of the Council” is:

7.2.1 during Phase 1: a reference to “30 members of the Council”;

7.2.2 during Phase 2: a reference to “25 members of the Council”; and

7.2.3 during Phase 3: a reference to “23 members of the Council”.

7.3 Clause 23(2) of this scheme is varied so that the reference in it to “14 members of the Council” is:

7.3.1 during Phase 1: a reference to “20 members of the Council”;

7.3.2 during Phase 2: a reference to “16 members of the Council”; and

7.3.3 during Phase 3: a reference to “15 members of the Council”.

PART 6

2020 EXTRAORDINARY PROVISIONS

1. Introduction

- (1) In response to the extraordinary circumstances created by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, to ensure the health and safety of the members of the Charity, its staff and volunteers, and to protect the Charity, the Board of Trustees has introduced the modifications set out in this Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme.
- (2) These modifications are designed to be a temporary measure until it is possible to hold an annual general meeting of the Charity safely and the process of holding elections for elected members of Council can be effectively managed.
- (3) Pursuant to clauses 45(1) and (2) the Board of Trustees, having consulted the Council, considers that it is expedient in the interests of the Charity to cancel the annual general meeting of the Charity in the calendar year 2020 and to extend by one year the terms of office of elected members of the Council such that there will be no elections for the elected members of Council in the calendar year 2020.

2. Definitions

In this Part 6 of the Schedule the follow terms shall have the following meanings:

"the commencement date" means the day following the suspension date;

"the extraordinary period" means the period from the commencement date to the date of the annual general meeting held in the calendar year 2021; and

"the suspension date" means the date of the meeting at which the Board of Trustees approves the amendments made to the scheme at clause 2(6) and by this Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme.

3. Effective Date and Duration

Notwithstanding anything in the National Trust Acts or in any other provision of this scheme:

- (1) Clause 2(6) of the scheme and paragraphs 1 to 4 of this Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme shall take effect on the suspension date and for the duration of the extraordinary period; and
- (2) Paragraphs 5 to 9 (other than 9(2)) of this Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme shall take effect on the commencement date and for the duration of the extraordinary period.
- (3) Paragraph 9(2) of this Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme shall take effect on the commencement date and shall continue in effect in respect of those elected members of Council who hold office on the commencement date for so long as any such elected member of Council continues to hold office.

4. Suspension of approvals required by the members of the Charity in general meeting

- (1) Clause 16(8) shall be replaced as follows:

"The procedures laid down by paragraphs (1) to (7) above may be amended by a resolution passed by the Council and by the Board of Trustees."

- (2) Clause 42 shall be replaced as follows:

"The Board of Trustees by resolution and the Council by resolution may from time to time agree to replace the provisions set out in this scheme relating to general meetings with new or amended provisions."

5. Annual general meeting for the calendar year 2020

- (1) Clause 33(1) shall be replaced as follows:

"The Charity shall not be required to hold an annual general meeting during the calendar year 2020 notwithstanding any other provision in the National Trust Acts or this scheme".

- (2) The following business which would otherwise be dealt with at an annual general meeting pursuant to clause 33(2) shall be conducted as follows during the calendar year 2020:

- (a) Accounts shall be made available in accordance with paragraph 6 of this Part 6; and
- (b) A members' resolution shall be considered in accordance with paragraph 7 of this Part 6.

- (3) The Charity shall hold an online or virtual forum (not being a general meeting) to which members may be invited at which the Board of Trustees will present a report of the activities of the Charity in the preceding year and in advance of which members will be invited to ask questions relevant to the purposes of the Charity, in such manner as the Board of Trustees may determine.

6. Provision of Accounts

Notwithstanding that an annual general meeting shall not be required to be held during the calendar year 2020, the Board of Trustees shall:

- (1) publish on the Charity's website as soon as practicable a report of the activities of the Charity and the accounts of the Charity for the financial year 2019/2020; and
- (2) make copies of the report and accounts available to members on written application to the Secretary.

7. Members' Resolutions

Any valid members' resolution received by the Charity pursuant to clause 35 during the extraordinary period shall be considered at the annual general meeting to be held in the calendar year 2021 if accepted by the Board of Trustees in accordance with clause 35.

8. Extraordinary General Meetings

Clause 36(8) shall be varied by adding the following new paragraph (d):

- "(d) in the opinion of the Board of Trustees it is not safe to hold an extraordinary general meeting."

9. Elected members of Council continuing in office

- (1) Clause 16(1) and 16(2) shall be varied by removing the phrase "each year" from each clause respectively.
- (2) Clause 19 shall be varied by adding the following new paragraph (3):
 - "(3) Notwithstanding clause 19(1) and any other provision in the National Trust Acts or this scheme, and unless any such person ceases to hold office pursuant to clauses 20 or 25, each of those elected members of Council who hold office on the commencement date shall hold office for four years from the date of their election."
- (3) No elections to the Council shall be held in the calendar year 2020 but during the extraordinary period:
 - (a) the Council may otherwise continue to exercise their functions under the National Trust Acts and this scheme as modified by this Part of the Schedule;
 - (b) the Council and the Nominations Committee may do all such things as may be necessary or expedient to prepare for the holding of an election of persons who are to be elected members of the Council at the annual general meeting to be held in the calendar year 2021; and
 - (c) the Council may fill a casual vacancy amongst the elected members of Council pursuant to clause 21(1).
- (4) The Council will make available its annual report to members required in accordance with clause 15(g) on the Charity's website as soon as it is available during the extraordinary period.

PART 7

2021 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

1. Introduction

- (1) In response to the continuing extraordinary circumstances created by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2021, to comply with all relevant government guidelines and social distancing measures so as to ensure the health and safety of the members of the Charity, its staff and volunteers, and to protect the Charity, the Board of Trustees has introduced the further modifications set out in this Part 7 of the Schedule to the scheme to supplement those modifications set out in Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme.
- (2) These modifications are designed to be a temporary measure until the end of the 2021 annual general meeting at which permanent modifications to the scheme will be proposed to the members of the Charity.
- (3) Pursuant to clause 42 (as amended in Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme) and clauses 45(1) and (2), the Board of Trustees and the Council consider it expedient in the interests of the Charity to amend the provisions relating to general meetings in the manner set out in paragraph 4 of this Part 7 of the Schedule to the scheme.
- (4) The Board of Trustees wish to confirm that Paragraph 9(2) of Part 6 of the Schedule to the scheme shall continue to apply beyond the date of the annual general meeting to be held in the calendar year 2021.

2. Definitions

In this Part 7 of the Schedule the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"the commencement date" means the date of the meeting at which the Board of Trustees approves the amendments made to the scheme at clause 2(6) and by this Part 7 of the Schedule to the scheme; and

"the continuing extraordinary period" means the period from the commencement date to the end of the annual general meeting held in the calendar year 2021 save in relation to paragraph 5 of this Part 7 of the Schedule to the scheme which shall continue as set out in that paragraph.

3. Effective date and duration

Notwithstanding anything in the National Trust Acts or in any other provision of this scheme, the amendments to Clause 2(6) of the scheme and paragraphs 1 to 4 of this Part 7 of the Schedule to the scheme shall take effect on the commencement date and for the duration of the continuing extraordinary period.

4. Annual general meeting for the calendar year 2021

- (1) Clause 34(2) shall be replaced as follows:

"Copies of the report and accounts shall be available electronically and on written application to the Secretary";

- (2) Clause 37(1) shall be replaced as follows:

"Subject to Clause 37(4), one hundred members of the Charity present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum for a general meeting.";

(3) A new Clause 37(4) shall be inserted as follows:

"The Board of Trustees may determine in their discretion the maximum number of members of the Charity and proxies who may be present at a general meeting or otherwise prescribe relevant restrictions or measures for those attending (including a requirement to pre-register attendance), where such restriction or measure is appropriate taking into account the law and government guidance or is expedient in the best interests of the Charity. Any such restriction or measure shall not prevent a member of the Charity or a proxy from being present electronically at a general meeting, provided they have complied with any pre-registration requirements or other restrictions or measures determined by the Board of Trustees. Where the Board of Trustees so determines any restriction or measure, it will inform the members of the Charity accordingly.";

(4) A new Clause 37(5) shall be inserted as follows:

"Proceedings at general meetings held in whole or in part by electronic means will not be invalidated due to technical issues which prohibit members of the Charity from joining such meetings electronically so long as the number of members of the Charity who are able to successfully join the meeting in person or by proxy form a quorum.";

(5) Clause 40(1) shall be replaced as follows:

"At every general meeting all matters which fall to be decided at the meeting shall be decided on a poll by a majority of votes of the members of the Charity present in person or by proxy and voting.";

(6) Clauses 40(2) and 40(3) shall be deleted and the remainder of Clause 40 renumbered;

(7) In Clauses 33(1) and 39(1), "place" means a physical location and/or a location accessed by electronic means.

(8) In Clauses 37(1), new 37(5), 40(1) and 40(5)(a) (now 40(3)(a)), "in person" means in person physically and/or by electronic means; and

(9) In Clauses 37(1), 37(2), 37(3), 38(1) and 40(1), "present" means present physically and/or by electronic means.

5. Terms of office for Elected members of Council

Paragraph 9(2) of Part 6 of the Schedule to this scheme shall continue in effect in respect of those elected members of Council who held office on the commencement date in Part 6 of the Schedule to this scheme for so long as any such elected member of Council continues to hold office.

|
Sealed by Order of the Commissioners this

12th day of January 2005

L.S

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This Order gives effect to a Scheme of the Charity Commissioners for the Charity known as the National Trust for Places of Historic Interest or Natural Beauty, which is regulated by the National Trust Acts 1907 to 1971. The Scheme sets out revised arrangements for the administration of the charity.

ISBN 0 11 072549 2